IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONNY L. CROOK, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : .

: Case No. 94,782

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HIGHLANDS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, DONNY L. CROOK, was charged by indictment on April 8, 1996 in Highlands County with the first degree murder of Betty Spurlock, robbery with a deadly weapon, and sexual battery with great force (1/37-40). After a jury trial before Circuit Judge J. David Langford on August 12-27, 1998, appellant was found guilty as charged on all counts (6/1055-57; 27/2927-28). The penalty phase took place on September 14-15, 1998. By a vote of 7-5, the jury recommended a death sentence (7/1165; 29/3326). On November 24, 1998, the trial court sentenced appellant to death for the murder, and imposed concurrent terms of life imprisonment on the remaining counts (11/2017-23,2045-46,2077).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Guilt Phase</u>

The Bull Pen is a small neighborhood bar located in Avon Park owned by Don Steenhoven. Betty Spurlock was a longtime employee and was Steenhoven's common-law wife (15/590-91,677-78). On March 14, 1996, Steenhoven called the bar just before 7:00 p.m. to see if Spurlock needed any help. She said it was slow; there were six Mexicans playing pool and four of them were too young to buy beer. An hour later, around ten minutes to eight, Steenhoven stopped by the bar. There were no customers at that time, and they had done very little business, just 18 dollars in sales. [About 85 dollars was typically kept in the till]. They decided to stay open a little longer in case some more customers came in. Steenhoven left to buy lottery tickets, and returned to the bar around 8:45. He knew something was wrong because the cement block with which they usually propped the front door open was sitting outside, and the door was closed. Steenhoven tried the front door and found it locked. [He testified that the door locks from inside]. He went around to the other door at the northeast corner of the building, and entered. The interior lights were off. When he flipped them up, he could see that the bar was in some disarray and things were out of place. He then discovered Betty Spurlock's body in the interior area of the L-shaped bar, by the walk-in cooler door. He called 9-1-1 (15/680-88,696-701,705-06).

Paramedics and law enforcement officers were dispatched to the scene. When they arrived, Don Steenhoven was still on the phone.

Betty Spurlock's body was on the other side of the bar; she was obviously deceased and had no pulse. Her clothing was disarranged, and her hosiery was pulled down to her ankles. A portion of a pool cue was adjacent to the body. The cash drawer was missing from the register. Shoeprints in blood were visible, leading from behind the bar to the door at the back of the establishment. Also observed were bloody shoeprints on the concrete pad outside the back door on the east side of the building (15/580-83,596-600,605, 613-14; 16/883,888-89,895-97,907-10,914; see 14/537,541;25/2565).

Ruby Flowers went to the Bull Pen at 5:30 that evening to get her hair cut by Betty Spurlock. She stayed and talked with Betty until around 8:00. Another lady came into the bar, and five or six Hispanic males came in and played pool. They were still there when she left (15/591-95).

Tammy Satkamp was at the Bull Pen from about 7:00 to 7:30. Betty Spurlock and a woman named Jane were there. Just before Tammy left, five Mexican guys came in. There were drinking beer and playing pool (15/716-18).

The same evening, Eva Johns went to the Presto store with her daughter Rhonda. Eva saw appellant, whom she knew, out front on a bicycle with a case of Old Milwaukee sitting on the handles. Appellant gave her a beer. The case was getting low; there were maybe six or eight beers left. Appellant "looked like he was partying" (15/624-27,633).

Appellant had a brief conversation with Eva and then another with Rhonda. Eva said to him "I thought you lived in Sebring," and

appellant said he was just visiting and came over. Eva overheard him saying to Rhonda something to the effect of "I come to do a job." Eva had no idea what he meant by that (15/628-29,633,643-44).

Later Eva saw appellant again. While she was sitting in a parked car in her daughter's yard, appellant came up the hill on his bicycle. They spoke very briefly. Eva told him she was probably going to go to the Bull Pen later to shoot pool with Tammy Satkamp. Appellant said he was going to the Bull Pen too (15/634-36).

Shortly thereafter, around 8:00 or 8:15, Eva and her family were driving down Selph Street toward the Bull Pen. Thinking that Tammy Satkamp might be there, Eva pulled in front of the open front door and looked inside. She didn't see Tammy; just Betty Spurlock standing by the register and appellant sitting in front of her on a bar stool (15/636-39). Appellant was turned to where he could look straight out the door, and he looked right at her. Eva was sure that he recognized her (15/645-46; see 22/2017; 24/2341,2343).

Melissa Lemay is appellant's cousin. Melissa's husband is David Lemay. Around 9:00 or 9:30 p.m. appellant came to their house on his bicycle. David let him in. Appellant was wearing long jeans, a T-shirt, and white high top tennis shoes. He asked David for a shirt and same shorts, and then went into the bathroom to change clothes. David recalled that Melissa, who had been getting ready to go to bed, came out of the bedroom and got a change of clothes for appellant, while Melissa recalled that when

she came out appellant was already wearing blue jean shorts, along with a T-shirt and white tennis shoes (16/785-91,836-42,859-62). Appellant was in the living room talking to David. Melissa described him as "hyper loud." She thought he was high on rock or paper, because his pupils were so big you could not see his eye color (16/809-10,834).

Appellant asked to stay the night and the Lemays told him he could stay in the garage (16/842).

At around 11:30 p.m., Avon Park police officers Robinson and Loeb were dispatched regarding a prowler call. They stopped a white male on a bicycle -- appellant -- who generally matched the clothing description. According to Detective Robinson, appellant acted very nervous and anxious and kept asking if he was going to be arrested. Robinson didn't detect any odor of alcohol; he acknowledged that one of the signs of drug use is paranoia and jitters. Appellant allowed the officers to check him for weapons or contraband; when he lifted his shirt, Robinson noticed what appeared to be a small spot of blood on his stomach. There was also a scrape on the palm of his hand. Robinson asked him about what happened, and appellant said he had a wreck on his bicycle. That seemed plausible and consistent with the injuries, so Robinson didn't think much about it at the time. Subsequently, however, he communicated his observations to the Sheriff's department in connection with a homicide investigation (15/722-29,732-34).

The next morning, Melissa Lemay went to her garage and woke appellant up. He was wearing the same shorts and tennis shoes, but

no shirt. The two of them loaded his bike into her trunk, and she drove him home to Sebring. During the ride, appellant asked her if David would have gotten rid of his clothes that were in the semi. Melissa asked him why would he do that. When she returned home, Melissa received a phone call from appellant's mother, after which Melissa made a phone call to the Bull Pen Bar (16/791-95,799,818).

David Lemay drives a semi truck which he keeps parked on a side street by his house. The truck has a toolbox compartment, accessible from the outside, which he leaves unlocked (16/836,843-45,867).

Around noon on March 15, Melissa was at the red light on Main Street when she spotted David's truck. She spoke with him on the CB, and then got in the truck with him. She told him about some clothing that might be in the truck, and asked him to throw them away. After the conversation, Melissa went home and David searched his truck and threw away a pair of pants in a dumpster at the BP station. He did not find a shirt (16/800-01,825-26,847,869-70).

After Melissa got home, she learned for the first time of the death of Betty Spurlock. Some sheriff's officers came to her house, and she allowed them to look around. When they asked her about the clothing she was evasive at first, but when directly confronted she gave them the information. The investigators observed some shoeprints in the front yard. Melissa told them the shoeprints were her own and appellant's (16/801-04,822-24,832-33; see 18/1226).

Later that day, David Lemay returned to the dumpster at the BP station with the Sheriff and retrieved the pair of black jeans which he'd thrown away earlier. At first he lied to the officers about how the jeans had come into his possession, but he later told them the truth. When they asked him about the shirt, he said he didn't have it but they were welcome to search the truck. The officers searched once without success; on the second try they found a T-shirt in the toolbox compartment. It was the same Tshirt appellant had been wearing the night before (16/847-52,871-75; see 18/1179-82,1227-32).

On March 15, 1996, appellant was brought by police officers to the emergency room at Highlands Regional Hospital for the collection of hair and blood samples. He was examined by Dr. Richard Spindler, who observed an assortment of scratches and abrasions to his knee, forearm, and hand. These injuries were one or two days old. Dr. Spindler also saw a quarter inch abrasion on the right side of appellant's forehead, with a surrounding half inch swelling (also 1-2 days old)(21/1715-16,1721-22). According to Detective John Murray, appellant told Dr. Spindler that he had banged his head on the air pump at the Texaco station. Appellant had already given Murray two different explanations for the bump on his forehead; that he hit it on a tree limb while riding his bike, and that he hit it on a door frame (23/2150-51; 24/2283-85).

An autopsy was performed on Betty Spurlock, a 59 year old white female, by the associate medical examiner, Dr. Alexander Melamud (17/1089; 18/1118). He determined that she died of

multiple injuries (18/1133), including four stab wounds to the neck (18/1124-25); multiple stab wounds to the abdominal area (18/1119-21); significant head injuries resulting from an undetermined number of blows (18/1123,1138,1145-56); and internal injuries and fractures caused by the insertion of a pool cue (18/1123-26,1130-37). Dr. Melamud also found various small abrasions, bruises, and cuts to the face and body (18/1121-25). There was a big bruise on her left cheek; looking closely Dr. Melamud saw a zigzag pattern, which he thought might be from the sole of a shoe (18/1124). There was an open fracture on the left orbit and forehead frontal bone. Dr. Melamud initially did not know what caused it. Later his assistant saw a protruding object, and they looked and saw the plastic end of a pool cue. A nearly 28 inch section of the pool cue was found inside the body. It had been inserted in the vagina and had gone parallel to the spinal column causing injuries to the many internal organs, then entered the oral and cranial cavities, fracturing the upper jaws. It perforated the left hemisphere of the brain and exited the forehead (18/1123-24,1128-38,1141). The cue stick apparently broke in half when it was attempted to be taken out (18/1130-31).

Dr. Melamud was of the opinion that the stab wounds to the neck and the blunt trauma injuries to the head occurred first, while the stab wounds to the abdomen and the injuries inflicted by the pool cue occurred at the end of the beating. The latter injuries involved only a very small amount of hemorrhage (18/1138, 1149-50,1161). According to Dr. Melamud (in agreement with the

blood spatter expert who testified later), Spurlock was beaten about the head while standing, and at some point she dropped into a prone position (18/1138-40,1166-67). While all of her injuries were inflicted within a comparatively short time, Dr. Melamud testified -- and the prosecutor acknowledged in her closing argument -- that Spurlock was unconscious at the time the pool cue was inserted, and would have experienced no sensations (18/1163, see 25/2573). However, he believed she was still alive at that point (18/1168, see 1160-61).

Leroy Parker, an FDLE crime lab supervisor whose areas of expertise include bloodstain analysis, testified that there were three distinct areas of splash blood -- and thus three impact sites -- behind the counter. At some points during the beating and stabbing, Betty Spurlock was on her feet and blood was being spilled in a downward direction. At some point, blows were directed to her while she was on the floor (20/1637-38,1651-53,1662-68; see 25/2560-64).

The green T-shirt recovered from the toolbox compartment in David Lemay's truck contained a bloodstain which -- according to DNA testing performed by analysts from Cellmark Diagnostics -- was consistent with Betty Spurlock's blood and inconsistent with appellant's own blood (19/1433-36, see 19/1363-64,1389-91). According to the Cellmark population geneticist who reviewed the work done by the analyst who performed the tests, the frequency within the Caucasian population that the blood could have come from someone other than Betty Spurlock is 1 in 660 (19/1465). The black

jeans recovered from the dumpster at the BP station tested positive for the presence of human blood, but no blood-type or DNA could be identified (19/1353-55,1389-91). Luminol processing showed long streaky patterns of blood on the jeans which were similar to what would be produced if a bloody hair swipe went across the material (21/1786-94). Luminol cannot determine blood-type or even whether the blood is human (21/1797).

Four sets of shoeprints were examined and photographed in the investigation. They were located (1) in the area behind the bar; (2) proceeding from the gateway in a curved manner to the east door; (3) from the east door going back around the north side of the building; and (4) at the Lemay residence (20/1597;21/1833-34; see 20/1517-58; 21/1805-23). In the opinion of Detective Tom Ouverson and FDLE analyst Deborah Fertgus, the shoeprints were consistent in their class characteristics with one another, and were consistent with the pattern found on the Nike Air Sonic Flight model shoe (20/1495,1504,1558-72;21/1825-30). No "accidental characteristics" (individualized markings caused by wear or other factors) were observed (21/1828-37), and no shoes were recovered in this case which matched the shoeprints. The Nike Air Sonic Flight was produced around 1993. Some 800,000 pairs were distributed in the United States, and more than that worldwide (20/1507-08; 21/1829).

Within a week after appellant arrived at the Highlands County Jail, correctional officer Terry Hinote overheard a conversation between him and a black inmate in the adjoining cell. All she

heard was appellant saying something about ramming a cue stick up her ass. Ms. Hinote did not document or report the incident. She thought appellant was just talking to brag and make the other inmates think he was tough; the kind of braggadocio that typically goes on in the jail (21/1843-48).

About a week after appellant's arrest, correctional officer Mitchell Hollenbeck overheard a conversation between appellant and his brother James Crook (also an inmate) during an authorized visitation (22/1863-70). James said "Before this goes any further, I've got to know did you do it". Appellant said, "Yeah, I hit her in the head." James asked him if he raped her; appellant said no, that was the other guy. James asked "What other guy?", and appellant replied "Never mind. It doesn't matter[. N]ot now." After hearing some discussion about whether Florida had done away with the electric chair, Officer Hollenbeck was called away from the area. When he returned, he overheard appellant saying "The money wouldn't come out. I was banging it on the concrete but it wouldn't open. I got pissed off and hit her in the face" (22/1870-71).

After Hollenbeck reported to investigators what he'd heard, it was arranged for appellant and James' next visitation, which occurred on March 29, 1996, to be covertly tape recorded (23/2215; 24/2323-24,2346). [The tape was played to the jury three times; during the testimony of Detective John Murray (23/2222-52), during the prosecutor's closing argument (25/2604-33); and in response to the jury's request during deliberations (27/2846-47,2870-2900).

There are discrepancies in the court reporter's transcripts of the three playings of the tape]. Appellant said "Check out these. Then he either said "I heard that (Inaudible) did it dude" (27/2876) or "I heard that he was talking to you he said that --" (23/2228; 25/2610-11). Appellant continued:

> He said that they don't have no stiff evidence on me. But I told them the truth. I told them that I got the cash register, stuck it in the car. I never got none of the money, man.

JAMES CROOK: You got (Inaudible).

APPELLANT: I got the cash register. I told them about it. I got the cash register. And I told them I brought it out there and drug it but --

JAMES CROOK: Huh?

APPELLANT: I got the cash register. I stuck it in the car, man. But I didn't kill that old lady though, dude.

JAMES CROOK: What?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Man, I hope you didn't kill that old lady, dude.

(27/2876; see 23/2228; 25/2611; 24/2327-28).

Appellant told James that a Mexican was arguing with the lady, and started slapping her. Appellant tried to get him to forget about it and leave but he wouldn't. The Mexican had on orange picking gloves. The Mexican popped the lady in the head with the cue stick, and told appellant to get the cash register. Appellant grabbed the register and ran out the door. James told appellant he was concocting that story and it wasn't going to float (23/2247-48; 25/2629-31; 27/2895-96).

Appellant made a series of in-custody statements to Detective Murray and/or Detective Glisson on the 15th, 16th, and 17th of March, 1996. Some portions of the statements were tape recorded; some were not. According to the March 15 statement, he left the bar well before the time the homicide would have occurred (22/1972-76; 23/2142-45). According to the initial March 16th statements, Betty Spurlock's attackers were three Mexican males. Appellant struggled with them trying to help the lady, but he was unsuccessful (22/2018-28,2035-36,2039-41,2049-51; 23/2067-68). Later on the 16th, appellant told Detective Murray that he was outside the bar and when he came back in he saw Spurlock lying on the floor with her pants pulled down. One Mexican was kneeling by her legs. Another Mexican chased appellant out the door (23/2155-58,2172-74; 24/2335-38).

On the 17th, appellant told Detective Glisson that he was sitting on a stool at the bar, and there were a couple of Mexicans in the bar. Apparently referring to Eva Johns and her daughter Rhonda (see 15/645-46; 24/2341,2343), appellant said:

> (Inaudible) with her daughter drive by laughing. They were all drunk.

> Q. Can they see. When somebody drives by, can they see in the bar?

A. They drove up and stopped at the front door, looking at me and drove off.

(22/2016-17).

When appellant referred to a fight which occurred a while back at the Bull Pen, Detective Glisson asked: Donny, let me try to go back over this. At what time . . . When is the last time that you think that you were in the bar?

A. I don't know. I can't tell time.

Q. All right. I know you can't tell time. Who all was in the bar?

A. Amigos and Betty.

(22/2036-37).

During the interval between statements, appellant started crying and said he didn't want to go to the electric chair. He told Detective Glisson he had been doing cocaine since early in the afternoon, and he'd never done that much cocaine before. He asked her "Since I was on drugs, could it be insane?" (23/2080-81). He asked if he could use the phone and Glisson told him it was too late (23/2081). Detective Murray re-entered the room and said "We know you did it. We just want to know why." Appellant started crying and said it was the drugs, he needed more rock. Appellant said he remembered seeing her counting the money and he remembered having blood on his shirt. Murray put the interview on hold momentarily while he went out and got a recorder (23/2081,2118, 2181-83). Then the statement continued as follows:

> Q. (By Mr. Murray) Donny, did you kill Betty Sue Spurlock?

A. Not that I remember. I don't --

Q. Were you in there? In the bar that night?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you want rock?

A. Yes, I wanted rock. But I don't remember nothing after that. Everything went black.

Q. Did you take her cash register?

A. No. I didn't take the cash register.

Q. Did you take the money?

A. I don't remember. No, I didn't take no money.

Q. Do you remember hitting her?

A. I know I didn't hit the lady. I remember when I walked away she was laying there and she was laying there, and she was dead. And I ran.

Q. When you left she was dead?

A. I seen her laying there. I'm not for sure if she was dead. I ran out of the bar and I was scared.

SHARON GLISSON: Donny, what did you tell me earlier? You said that you and she were in there and you saw her counting money?

A. I seen her counting money. And I turned around and everything went black. And then when I walked away from her and she was laying there and I ran. And I was scared.

Q. (By Mr. Murray) Donny, you have been telling us about these three Mexicans in there. There wasn't three Mexican in there, was there?

A. There was one guy in there.

Q. What happened to him?

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