IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONNY L. CROOK

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC94782

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Further, while Crook maintains that the evidence of brain damage was unrefuted, the evidence shows that Crook had been repeatedly assessed, prior to his commission of the instant murder, as having a personality disorder. Additionally, as the following shows there was evidence presented that Crook's IQ fell in the low average range. A review of the record in this case supports the trial court's findings and they should not be disturbed on appeal.

Dr. David McCraney testified that he was a neurologist. He saw Crook once for about an hour. He did not know the facts of the crime at the time but during the examination he looked for evidence of frontal lobe damage because of Crook's past behavior. He testified that people with frontal lobe damage typically have rages then don't remember what happened. (R28: 3045-46)

It is interesting to note, however, that during Crook's interview with police officers, Crook only asserted lack of memory when faced with questions concerning his culpability but remembered extensive details when attempting to exculpate himself. Compare

Volume 22, pages 2016-2028, 2037-2052, where Crook tells Officer Glisson extensive details of the crime while contending that three "amigos" were responsible for the murder with Volume 23, pages 2193, 2195-2197, 2199, where, when confronted by Detective Murray with the allegation that he had committed the murder, Crook repeatedly claimed he could not remember and that everything went black during the robbery.

Dr. McCraney noted that Crook had been repeatedly diagnosed as having an anti-social personality and explained the distinction between the two types of disorders. (T28: 3050, 3084-85, 3089) He testified that patients with personality disorders are self interested, whereas a brain injured person cannot take his own side in an argument. (R28: 3051) The record in the instant case reflects that Crook repeatedly "took his own side" when hiding his clothing with his friends and when he laid the blame for the crime on the anonymous "three amigos" and alleged that he had tried to save Betty Spurlock from the amigos unprovoked attack.

Dr. McCraney conceded that frontal lobe damage does not have external evidence of injury and that there was a lot of overlapping between personality disorders and organic brain damage. (R28: 3051-52) Dr. McCraney's testing of Crook focused on the nervous system and how his muscles are working. The doctor testified that Crook's tests, done during the one hour examination and interview, showed some frontal lobe abnormalities. (R28: 3055, 3056, 3075).

He noted that Crook's IQ tests from school indicated that Crook's IQ was in the high 70's and that a person with a high 70's IQ can function in society. (R28: 3059,3062) He also noted that even with brain damage, that 90-99% of time Crook can make choices. (R28: 3075) Dr. McCraney conceded that a number of doctors, including Dr. Dolente, reported that the Crook was malingering and that there was evidence of antisocial personality. (R28: 3076-77) He also admitted that 90% of brain injuries resulting in brain damge are from birth and he had no evidence that Crook had suffered any birth trauma. (R28: 3078) In fact, reports from Crook's previous examinations reflect that there was minimal brain dysfunction, that Donny was aggressive but able but able to monitor it at times, attributed his difficulties to environment and diagnosed him having a conduct disorder. (R28: 3084-85) Crook was

seen by examiners as manipulative and antisocial. (R28: 3089)¹ Previous IQ test shows Crook in low average range. (R28: 3095-96) Another evaluation rejected retardation and found that Crook was deliberately attempting to make the evaluator think he was retarded, that he could not read or write. (R28: 3098) The report noted that Crook's behavior shows signs of higher intelligence than his tests indicate. (R28: 3099) Crook was fluid in both English

In a proffer Dr. McCraney noted that reports showed Donny said he enjoyed fighting, hurting people and seeing them bleed. (R28: 3092) The need to hurt people is not associated with frontal lobe damage. He also noted that people with antisocial personalities are prone to malingering and can feign psychiatric illness just as easy as anybody can. (R28: 3092-93)

and Spanish languages. (R28: 3101) Physically, Crook appeared to be normal (R28: 3105)

As possible sources for brain damage the doctor pointed to Crook's car accident in November, 1993. However, Crook denied losing consciousness. Without a loss of consciousness, brain damage is highly unlikely. (R28: 3105-06)

Dr. Thomas McClain, a psychiatrist, testified that he saw Crook twice. (R29: 3138-3141) He diagnosed Crook has having brain damage that is difficult to specify exactly. (R29: 3144) Despite Dr. McCraney's prior testimony that Crook's IQ had been tested in the high 70's, Dr. McClain testified that records show Crook's IQ that has been tested as low as 69 or 62 and as high as the low 70's. (R28: 3145)

Dr. McClain then went over a chart which showed the possible sources for brain damage. These sources included pregnancy and childbirth, substance abuse, socioeconomic deprivation and head trauma. (R29: 3146-3147) Dr. McClain admitted, however, that none of the possible sources definitely caused Crook's alleged brain damage. He admits that the data does not substantiate birth trauma; concedes no evidence of birth trauma or that mom had any health problem. He admitted that Crook's birth was basically a standard caesarean; that almost no criminal meets the idealized standards of life history; concedes that not many migrant worker families do have an ideal background; and that no evidence exists

showing Crook lost consciousness during the automobile accident. (R29: 3148, 3173, 3175-76, 3180, 3190)

Dr. McClain testified that Crook's brain damage could not be documented with physical studies but symptoms indicate it's existence. (R29: 3155) He found Crook to have subtle frontal lobe damage - subtle meaning difficult to pick up with normal tests - which interacts with hyperactivity and drug use. (R29: 3157)

Both Dr. Dolente and Dr. McClain agreed that Crook was malingering during their interviews. (R29: 3169) Crook meets the criteria for a severe personality disorder with antisocial traits and other personality traits. (R29: 3170) He conceded, however, that Crook had goal directed behavior; that actions of locking door and later changing and hiding clothes shows there is an appreciation of the criminality of his conduct. (R29: 3197)

Dr Ralph Dolente, a psychologist, testified for the defense that he met with Crook twice. The first time he met with Crook, Crook faked the test. Dr. Dolente left and came back six months later to retest. (R29: 3210) His diagnosis is personality change secondary to recurrent traumatic brain injury with antisocial features along polysubstance abuse and perhaps ADD. (R29: 3207). He found some indications of frontal lobe damage. (R29: 3209)

Dr. Dolente noted that malingering is common in criminal cases, but that the second time he did not seem to be faking. (R29: 3211-12) He found a degree of organicity. (R29: 3220) He opined

that Crook doesn't have memory impairment, he has verbal learning impairment. (R29: 3221) According to Dr. Dolente, Crook's impairment is more behavioral as opposed to cognitive. (R29: 3222) Crook's behavior is probably more one of organic personality disorder secondary to brain injury with aggressive and impulsive features. (R29: 3223) Dr. Dolente agreed that Crook can control his behavior to a degree. He is confident, however, that there is a degree of organicity involved with Crook. (R29: 3226)

Although he could not point to a provoking factor, Dr. Dolente opined that in a case like this if a person is provoked or overstimulated they can easily go in a rage. (R29: 3232) Dr. Dolente thinks Crook appreciates what he does but is unable to control himself to a degree that a person with an intact brain can. So, he concluded, to a degree Crook is unable to control himself. (R29: 3233-34) Dr. Dolente's primary diagnosis is personality change due to traumatic brain injury with antisocial features. (R29: 3238-39) On the Wechsler test of social judgement Crook scored in the low average range, abstract spacial skills high average range, attention concentration and conceptual tracking falling into low average, non verbal problem solving skills fell into low average range. (R29: 3239-42) Based on the testing, Dr. Dolente could not say the extent of the brain damage. (R29: 3263)

The trial court in the instant case, reviewed the evidence presented and held with regard to the mental mitigating factors:

- b) The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and
- c) The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.

These two statutory mitigating circumstances will be considered together. Both of these bear on the defendant's mental functioning at the time of the offense as it relates to his use of alcohol or controlled substances, his intelligence and any mental illness or impairment.

The defense presented three experts during the penalty phase, Thomas McClane, M.D., P.A., Ralph J. Dolente, Psy.D., and David McCraney, M.D. Each of these experts testified in regard to the existence of these two statutory mental mitigating circumstances and each expert concluded that the circumstances existed in the instant case.

These findings are not surprising when a review is made of the documents that were furnished to the experts for their review in conjunction with their interviews of the defendant and furnished to the court at the sentencing hearing by the defense designated Medical Records and School Records. The defendant's first psychological evaluation occurred when he was five (5) years and two (2) months old. This report by Charles A. Haskovec, Ph.D. found the defendant has an of 76 and a diagnosis of conduct disorder, socialized, non-aggressive attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity. The defendant's next psychological evaluation conducted when the defendant was eight (8) year, seven (7) months, and twenty-eight (28) days old by Suzanne Huber Martinchalk, M.A. Found the defendant to be an individual with learning disabilities and significant emotional problems. The diagnosis: conduct disorder, undersocialized, aggressive, attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity; and developmental reading disorder.

The next report from Dr. Theodore Greiner, M.D. is from a hospital admission

when the defendant was sixteen (16) years of age. The defendant was admitted to the hospital for making suicidal threats. Upon evaluation the physician's diagnosis was not that the defendant was either suicidal nor homicidal, but that he had a conduct disorder.

The next psychological evaluation of the defendant was conducted by William G. Kremper, Ph.D. in conjunction with the defendant's application for disability benefits when the defendant was eighteen (18) years of age. Dr. Kremper found that the defendant had a full scale I.Q. of 66 and a diagnosistic impression of: organic hallucinosis, alcohol and cocaine abuse, cannabis dependence, antisocial personality disorder, inhalant dependence in remission and mental retardation, mild.

The next psychological evaluation of the defendant was conducted by Roy C. Mercer, Ph.D. when the defendant was nineteen (19) years and seven (7) months old. Dr. Mercer's findings were that the defendant's full scale I.Q. was 75, that he had Borderline Intellectual Functioning, impulsivity, distractibility, poor judgment, and acting out tendencies.

The final mental health records presented are those from the Marge Brewster Center of the Behavioral Health Division of Winter Haven Hospital Inc. The date of evaluation being September 10, 1997. The diagnostic impression being: polysubstance dependence, antisocial personality disorder and psychological stressors from incarceration on the first degree murder charge.

As can be seen throughout the defendant's life he has had a history of inability to conform his conduct to the expectations of society. This would not normally be mitigating since conduct disorder is a condition which cannot be considered in mitigation. Carter v. State, 576 So.2d 1291 at 1292 (Fla. 1989), and there was no actual proof of any brain damage to the defendant.

(R11: 2033-36)

In discussing other mitigating evidence urged by defense

counsel, the court also noted:

4. The defendant is borderline mentally retarded. He suffers from learning disabilities which have caused him to have an impaired educational experience and limited intellectual abilities.

The record does not support a finding that the defendant is borderline mentally retarded. Dr. Kremper's report from 7-21-94 finds the defendant to be mentally retarded, mild, however none of the other evidence in this case supports this finding and the court does not find the defendant to be borderline mentally retarded. The court does find however that the defendant's I.Q. is within the low average range of intelligence. The court finds this to be a mitigating circumstance and gives it slight weight.

The record is replete with evidence that the defendant has learning disabilities and as a result had an impaired educational experience. The court finds this to be a mitigating circumstance and gives it slight weight.

(R11: 2038)

As the foregoing demonstrates, the trial court thoroughly assessed all of the evidence before it, including the testimony that appellant's I.Q. was in the mid 70's. As previously noted, the record shows that prior to Dr. Kremper's evaluation, Crook had been seen repeatedly by mental health professionals who uniformly diagnosed him as having conduct or personality disorders. (T28/29: 3084-85, 3093-96, 3098, 3107-08, 3248, 3251) Further, while the three defense doctors who examined Crook for the penalty phase hearing all found him to have some level of brain damage, none could say the extent of the damage or determine its exact cause or

origin. As this Court in <u>Robinson</u>, supra., held, it is not error for a trial court to reject mental health testimony where, as here, the experts testified that particular brain deficits would not keep appellant from functioning in normal, everyday society and where neither expert could determine what caused the brain impairment. The record shows that the trial court thoroughly assessed all of the evidence before it and made a reasonable determination that the evidence of brain damage or mental retardation should be rejected.

Even assuming the trial court's factual findings are incorrect and that this Court finds that Crook suffered from brain damage and that his IQ was borderline mentally retarded versus the low average level found by the trial court, the state maintains that resentencing is not required. As noted above the trial court was clearly aware of all of the evidence before him. He found both of the statutory mental mitigators despite the fact that two of the doctors hedged on the extent that Crook satisfied the statutory requirements. (R29: 3197, 3226) compare Bates v. State, 1999 WL 817193, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S471 (Fla. 1999) (trial court's failure to address appellant's prison records in the sentencing order was harmless error); <u>Kilgore v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 895, 901 (Fla. 1996) (trial court's failure to expressly comment on the relationship between Kilgore and Jackson, harmless error, where existence of relationship was presented during the trial and judge was cognizant of factor when weighing the mental health evidence.)

In sum, the appellant's sentence is supported by three very strong aggravating factors. The evidence presented in the instant case established that appellant repeatedly stabbed, beat, stomped and skewered Ms. Spurlock in an attack that lasted several minutes. Ms. Spurlock fought for her life. Balanced against this heinous crime is a laundry list of character traits and aspects of the crime which appellant urged as mitigating evidence. Based upon on the foregoing, this State urges this Court to find that appellant's sentence is proportionate.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.